

THESIS





LIBRARY Michigan State University

This is to certify that the

thesis entitled

ANALYSIS OF A TRANSCRIPTIONAL REPRESSOR IN DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER

presented by

YIFAN MAO

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

M.S. degree in <u>BIOCHEMI</u>STRY

Major professor

Date_5/3/ 100

O-7639

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution

PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due. MAY BE RECALLED with earlier due date if requested.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE
	;	

11/00 c/CIRC/DateDue.p65-p.14

•

ANALYSIS OF A TRANSCRIPTIONAL REPRESSOR

IN DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER

By

Yifan Mao

A THESIS

Submitted to

Michigan State University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Biochemistry

ABSTRACT

ANALYSIS OF A TRANSCRIPTIONAL REPRESSOR IN DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER

By

YIFAN MAO

The repressor protein Knirps regulates gene expression in *Drosophila* embryonic development. I have been using an *in vivo* repression assay to define the repression domains of the Knirps protein. A panel of mutant knirps gene constructs were generated and transformed into *Drosophila* embryos by microinjection.

The repression activities monitored in embryos suggested that two portions of the Knirps protein can mediate repression. One region contains the binding site for dCtBP, a cofactor previously shown to be important for Knirps function. In addition, a more N-terminal portion of Knirps is able to repress transcription without the dCtBP binding sites. Thus, Knirps may function via two different pathways. Residues 202-358 and residues 139-330 have been mapped to the minimal C-terminal repressor and N-terminal repressor respectively. By the comparing the repression activities of repression domain with different DNA binding domains, the Knirps DNA binding domain is proposed to exert negative interference on the repression domain. To Mum and Dad

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am grateful to those who have helped me on this project. First of all, I want to thank my advisor, Dr. David Arnosti, for his teaching, patience and support. During the three years I spent in Dr. Arnosti's lab, I have enjoyed the cooperative environment provided by Dr. Arnosti's group and have grown into a mature scientist. I want to thank all the current and previous Arnosti lab members for their help and friendship, especially Dr. Scott Keller for his analysis of the N-terminal repressor Knirps 75-331.

I also want to thank Dr. Zachary Burton, Donald Jump for being my committee and for the guidence they gave me over these years. I thank Dr. Laura McCabe for helping me with gel shift experiments.

I also thank Dr. Steve Small from New York University for providing the Casper $22F\Delta KE$ plasmid and Dr. Nibu from University of California at Berkeley for providing the Gal4-dCtBP fly lines. I also thank Kirsten Fertuck for reading my thesis.

Finally, I want to give my special thanks to my family, for their support and faith.

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	viii
CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW	1
Overview of the transcriptional regulation in eukaryotes	2
Transcriptional regulation in Drosophila embryonic development	4
Introduction of the knirps gene and the Knirps protein	5
The transcriptional corepressor of Knirps, dCtBP	10
CHAPTER 2. THE REPRESSION ACITIVITIES OF KNIRPS	18
Short-range repression activity of the Knirps protein	19
Gal4-Knirps, the model for the study of Knirps	20
Mutational analysis of the Gal4-Knirps chimera	23
CHAPTER 3. THE MINIMAL REPRESSION DOMAIN OF KNIRPS	27
Introduction	28
Materials and methods	28
Plasmids	28
P-element transformation whole-mount in situ hybridization of embryos,	
and crosses to reporter lines	30
Assays of in vivo repression activity	30
Results	33

202-358 is a minimal repression domain of Knirps protein	
Activity of the dCtBP repressor protein from a distal enhancer position	43

CHAPTER 4. THE ANALYSIS OF THE N-TERMINAL REPRESSOR OF

KNIRPS	47
Introduction	48
Materials and methods	48
N-terminal deletions	49
P-element transformation whole-mount in situ hybridization of embryos,	
and crosses to reporter lines	51
Assays of in vivo repression activity	51
Results	51
Discussion and conclusion	52

CHAPTER 5. Knirps DNA binding domain, the inhibitory element in

repression	59
Introduction	60
Materials and methods	61
C-terminal deletions	61
P-element transformation whole-mount in situ hybridization of embryos, and	
crosses to reporter lines	62
Assays of in vivo repression activity	62

Results	62
Discussion and conclusion	63

CHAPTER 6. DETECTION OF THE CHIMERIC GAL4-KNIRPS REPRESSOR

PROTEINS	74
Introduction	75
Materials and methods	75
Whole mount in situ antibody staining	75
Embryo nuclear protein extraction	78
Gel mobility shilfts	79
Results	80
Detections of fusion proteins by gel mobility shift assay	80
202-358 ΔE , the non-functional protein, is stably expressed in the transgenic	
embryos	83
Discussion	90
Conclusion	91
Summary and perspectives	92
Bibliography	94

LIST OF FIGURES

Images in this thesis are presented in color.

Chapter 1

Figure 1. The schematic representation of the Knirps protein	7
Figure 2. The P-DLS-K motif is essential for Knirps-mediated repression 1	1
Figure 3. Expression pattern of synthetic reporter genes in the dCtBP mutant embryo	14
Chapter 2	
Figure 4. Gal4-Knirps mimics the activity of endogenous Knirps protein on a <i>rhomboid</i> enhancer	21
Figure 5. dCtBP interaction region of Knirps is dispensable for activity of the C-terminal truncated proteins	24
Chapter 3	
Figure 6. The making of a transgenic fly	31
Figure 7. The injection vector pTwiggy	34
Figure 8. Representative repressed embryos show the repression of <i>eve</i> stripe 2 b Gal4-Knirps	эу 37
Figure 9. The schematic structures and in vivo activities of the Gal4-Knirps muta proteins.	int 39
Figure 10. A central region of Knirps requires dCtBP binding motif for acitivity	41
Figure 11. The Gal 4-dCtBP acts as an independent repressor within an enhancer	r 45
Chapter 4	
Figure 12. The schematic structures of the amino-terminal Knirps mutants	53
Figure 13. Sequence comparison of Knirps-homologous proteins from different species	56

Chapter 5

Figure 14. The schematic structures of the carboxyl-terminal Knirps mutants and their repression activities	l 64
Figure 15. The schematic representation of model I: dCtBP helps Knirps dimerization to perform effective repression	67
Figure 16. The schematic representation of model II: The DNA binding domain interferes with the repression of Knirps	69
Figure 17. The schematic representation of model III: The repression domain interferes with the DNA binding of Knirps	72
Chapter 6	
Figure 18. Gal4-Knirps 189-358 were detected by antibody staining	76
Figure 19. Gal4-Knrips 202-358 protein binds to its cognate sites specifically	81
Figure 20. Gal4-Knirps 189-358-flag, 202-358-flag and 248-358-flag were stably expressed in transgenic embryos	y 84
Figure 21. 202-358∆E-5 and 202-358∆E-10 were stably expressed in transgenic embryos	88

CHAPTER 1

LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview of the transcriptional regulation in eukaryotes

Eukaryotic transcription is carried out by three DNA-dependent RNA polymerases (reviewed by Young 1991): RNA polymerase I, II and III. RNA polymerase I synthesizes ribosomal RNA; RNA polymerase II synthesizes messenger RNA and some small nuclear RNA; RNA polymerase II synthesizes the 5S rRNA, tRNA and some small nuclear RNA. Each of these three RNA polymerases is composed of 8-14 polypeptides. Most eukaryotic Pol II promoters that recognized by RNA polymerase II contain common elements such as a TATA box, GC rich sequences or CAAT boxes. To initiate transcription, multiple transcriptional factors (TFs) are required for accurate initiation from a promoter DNA sequence. These transcriptional factors include TBP (TATA-binding protein) or TFIID, TFIIA, TFIIB, TFIIF, TFIIE and TFIIH (Zawel and Reinberg, 1993, Roeder, 1996, Orphanides et al., 1996). Similar TFs have been identified in yeast, *Drosophila*, rat and human systems. These TFs along with RNA polymerase II are often referred to as the general transcriptional machinery.

In eukaryotes, DNA was packaged into chromatin and DNA sequences within the chromatin structure are generally inaccessible to transcription factors and Pol II. Transcriptional activators can relieve this repression caused by chromatin structure by direct or indirect covalent modification of the histones to loosen the packaging of the nucleosomal DNA. Activators also possess the ability to facilitate transcription by acting on the general machinery to increase the efficiency of the process. Like transcriptional activation, transcriptional repression is important for appropriate gene expression *in vivo* by turning off transcription (Hanna Rose and Hansen, 1996). Repressors play a major role in many biological processes. Mutations in repressor genes may cause tumor growth, developmental disorders or disregulation of the cell cycle (Wang et al., 1999).

There are four different models proposed regarding the mechanisms of repressors in eukaryotes. The first one is called the competition model; in which the DNA binding sites of the repressor overlap with those of the activator. The repressor binds to the enhancer and prevents the activator from binding to DNA (Foulkes et al., 1991). The second model is called the quenching model. Both the activator and the repressor are capable of binding to DNA simultaneously, but the repressor keeps the activator from functioning by masking the activation surface and preventing it from making proper contact with the basal machinery. Some repressors can repress multiple enhancers from long distances (over 500 bp).

The third model of repression is that the repressor somehow prevents the formation of the transcription complex, thus blocking transcription. The *Drosophila* protein Even-skipped is an example of a repressor that uses this mechanism. This protein represses transcription by binding to TBP and blocking the TFIID-TATA box interaction (Li et al., 1998). The fourth model is the squelching model. In this model, the repressor interacts neither with DNA nor the activator protein, but represses transcription by sequestering factors required for the function of the activator. The estrogen receptor (ER) represses the transcriptional activation by progesterone receptor (PR) in this manner (Etienne et al., 1989).

Transcriptional regulation in Drosophila embryonic development

Transcription is regulated by factors that result in highly selective gene expression in organisms. In Drosophila, enhancers integrate both positive and negative regulatory information to direct sharp patterns of gene expression in the embryo. These enhancers contain tightly clustered binding sites for both transcriptional activators and repressors (Jäckle 1992) and lead to the cross and hierachical gene regulation cascade. Activators, such as Bicoid (Driever et al., 1989), turn on gene expression, while repressors, such as Knirps (Arnosti et al., 1996), either reduce or turn off gene expression completely. Thus, transcriptional regulation of one gene in the *Drosophila* embryo usually involves multiple transacting factors. For example, in Drosophila melanogaster, even-skipped stripe 7 is activated by Tailless and repressed by Knirps. The interplay of these multiple transcriptional regulators causes the specific developmental pattern of Drosophila embryos. Drosophila segmentation also depends on the successive activities of several classes of genes; The maternal gene products Bicoid, localized in the anterior pole of the embryos, and Nanos, localized in the posterior pole of the embryo, set up the anteriorposterior axis of body pattern formation. Those maternal gene products provide the position information for the zygotic genes, including the gap genes, pair-rule genes and segment-polarity genes (for reviews, see Nüsslein-Volhard et al., 1987). In the hierarchical gene regulation process involved in embryonic development, the gap genes respond to the regulation of maternal gene products. In turn, the gap genes regulate expression of the pair-rule genes and the pair-rule genes regulate their downstream genes

including the segment polarity genes (for reviews, see Pankratz and Jäckle, 1993). This sequential regulation of gene expression determines the fate of the embryonic development of *Drosophila*.

Transcriptional repression is a complicated issue which people are addressing from different respects. *Drosophila* is an ideal system to study transcriptional repression because of several advantages: *Drosophila* is an eukaryotic system; it has a relatively short generation time; it is relatively easy to maintain and manipulate; *Drosophila* genetics has been well studied. Most importantly, the same types of proteins are found in other higher eukaryotes. Since Knirps is a transcriptional repressor that plays a major role in the embryonic development of *Drosophila melanogaster*, the study of Knirps will have significance in both developmental biology and the study of transcription mechanisms.

Introduction to the knirps gene and the Knirps protein

The *knirps* gene is one of the gap genes involved in early embryonic development of *Drosophila melanogaster*. It encodes a transcriptional repressor that regulates correct spatial and temporal gene expression in the early *Drosophila* embryo. The *knirps* gene was identified in a screen for early developmental defects, when a type of *knirps* mutant embryo was found to form only two abdominal segments instead of the normal eight segments in the embryo (Nüsslein-Volhard and Wieschaus, 1980). Knirps protein is expressed in the anterior-ventral region and the posterior region of the blastoderm embryo, which will give rise to the abdomen between nuclear division cycle 11 and 14 (Figure 1) (Rothe et al., 1992). It is known that the products of other genes including

activators such as Krüppel, Caudal, Bicoid (Rivera-Pomar, et al., 1995) and repressors such as Giant and Tailless, set the boundaries of expression of Knirps (Pankratz, et al., 1993).

Knirps has been well studied genetically and a series of mutant alleles have been identified: 1. a number of null alleles that causes the embryo to lack six out of eight abdominal segments; 2. an intermediate hypomorphic allele that result in the loss of three or four abdominal segments; and 3. a weak hypomorphic allele that leads to the loss of one or two abdominal segments (Nauber et al., 1988). The *knirps* gene has been cloned and located on the left arm of the third chromosome, based on the evidence that certain chromosomal rearrangements are associated with a *knirps* mutation (Nauber et al., 1988).

Knirps protein is a member of the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily (Nauber et al., 1988). A Cys2Cys2 type zinc-finger DNA binding domain (residues 1-74) and a repression domain (residues 75-429) (Figure 1) functional when separated (Gerwin 1994, Arnosti et al., 1996). The "Kni box" between residue 52 and 93 is highly conserved in the Knirps-like proteins of *Drosophila melanogaster*, *Drosophila virilis* and the more distantly related *Musca domestica*. Knirps protein possesses a zinc-finger DNA binding domain and binds to DNA sequence 5'-ACTGAACTAAATCCGG-3'. Knirps is capable of binding to DNA as a monomer (Gerwin et al., 1994). Therefore, its DNA binding properties can be distinguished from those of the known Cys2Cys2 type nuclear receptors, which require homodimer or heterodimer formation. *In vivo*, Knirps acts as a repressor to define the posterior boundary of *even-skipped* stripe 3 (Small et al., 1992) and to define the *hairy* stripe 7 in the anterior boundary (Pankcratz, M. and Jäckle, H., 1993). Mutating *knirps* gene in embryos results in the expanding of the expression

Figure 1. The schematic representation of the Knirps protein (top) and the expression pattern of the endogenous Knirps protein (bottom). Images in this thesis are presented in color.



Endogenous Knirps protein

patterns of those stripes due to the loss of repression (Small et al., 1996), eventually causing embryonic lethality (Nüsslein-Volhard, C. and Wieschaus. 1980).

There are two classes of repressors: long-range repressor versus short-range repressor. The *Drosophila* long-range repressor Hairy is capable of working over 1 kb away from the upstream activator to repress the rhomboid NEE enhancer (Barolo et al., 1997). Knirps is a member of the short-range class of repressors, which includes Snail (Gray et al., 1994), Krüppel (Gray et al., 1996) and Giant (Hewitt et al., 1999). These factors act on nearby DNA sequences to repress gene expression. For example, Knirps represses an *even-skipped* stripe 2 enhancer element, when it is bound less than 100 bp away from this enhancer (Arnosti et al., 1996). Knirps can also function as a dominant repressor, blocking multiple enhancers, such as the *twist* enhancers and the *rhomboid* enhancer, when it is bound 75 bp or less away from the transcription start site (Arnosti et al., 1996). It has been shown that Knirps protein contains several functional domains which are arranged in a modular fashion. The alanine-rich part of the Knirps protein (encoded by codons 189-254) acting as a functional repressor in *Drosophila* Schneider cells (Gerwin et al., 1994).

The transcriptional corepressor of Knirps, dCtBP

Co-factor mediated repression has been commonly discovered in a variety of systems. In mammalian cells, the transcriptional repression by the methyl-CpG-binding protein MeCP2 requires a corepressor complex containing the transcriptional repressor mSin3A and histone deacetylase (Nan et al., 1998). During an investigation of the

mechanisms of Knirps repression function, dCtBP, the Drosophila homologue of the mammalian C-terminal binding protein, was shown to be involved in the repression activities of Knirps protein (Nibu et al., 1998b). The mammalian protein, CtBP (Cterminal binding protein) interacts with the adenovirus E1a protein and decreases the transformation activity of the E1a protein (Schaeper et al., 1995). This interaction was suggested to be critical for adenovirus replication and oncogenic tranformation. A specific sequence motif P-DLS-K, highly conserved among E1A proteins of various human and animal adenovirus, is required for the CtBP-E1A interaction (Schaeper et al., 1995). dCtBP protein is found to be maternally deposited into Drosophila embryos, involving in developmental processes (Nibu et al., 1998b). dCtBP protein recognizes the same motif P-DLS-K in Knirps protein, and alanine substitution mutation in the DLS sequence abolished interaction between dCtBP and Knirps in in vitro glutathione-S transferase pull-downs (Nibu et al., 1998b). The evidence as following supports the hypothesis that the P-DLS-K motif is essential for Knirps-mediated repression: 1. St2-Knirps was constructed by fusing the even-skipped stripe 2 enhancer to the knirps gene and was transformed into embryo. The transgenic embryo displays an ectopic Knirps expression pattern localized as a stripe in the anterior of the embryo (Figure 2A). The products of this St2-knirps repress the even-skipped stripe 3 (Figure 2B). The repression is not seen when a st2-knirps mutant gene with the alanine substitutions in the dCtBPbinding motif was transformed into the embryo (Figure 2C) (Nibu et al. 1998a). 2. The results from analyzing the expression of synthetic transgenes in dCtBP mutant embryos. The transgene contains a modified form of 700 bp rhomboid lateral stripe enhancer (NEE) and directs strong expression in both lateral and ventral regions. The wild type

Figure 2. The P-DLS-K motif is essential for Knirps-mediated repression. Cellularizing embryos were hybridized with mixtures of a digoxigenin-labeled knirps antisense RNA (red) and a fluoresceinlabeled eve antisense RNA (black). They are orientated with anterior to the left and dorsal up. (A) Double staining pattern in a wild-type embryo. *eve* is expressed in a series of seven stripes, while *knirps* is expressed at the anterior pole and antero-ventral regions, as well as in a broad posterior band which encompasses eve stripe 4 and 5. (B) Same as (A) except that the embryo contains a transgene with the full-length *knirps* coding region was mutagenized to disrupt the P-DLS-K motif (PMDLSMK to AAAASMA). The ectopic *knirps* stripe does not cause an obvious change in the *eve* pattern; in particular, stripe 3 pattern, suggesting that the mutant Knirps protein retains weak repressor activity

L



embryo, where dCtBP protein is maternally deposited, contains a modified enhancer NEE with two synthetic Knirps-binding sites positioned within 50 bp of the NEE activators. Repression of the reporter gene expression in the ventral region was observed due to the repression activity of the Knirps protein (Figure 3); whereas the dCtBP mutant embryo without contains the same NEE enhancer and the synthetic Knirps binding site. No repression was observed (Figure 3) (Zhang et al., 1998), suggesting that dCtBP is necessary for Knirps repression. 3. Alanine substitution mutations in PMDL sequence in the dCtBP-binding domain eliminate the repression activity of the Gal4-Knirps 254-429 in transgenic embryo assays (Nibu et al., 1998b). 4. Gene dosage assays also suggest that Knirps and dCtBP interact *in vivo*. Embryos that are heterozygous for the *knirps*⁹ null mutation exhibited occasional defects in the eve expression pattern. Combining the *dCtBP* and *knirps* mutations resulted in more severe disruptions in the *eve* pattern (Nibu et al., 1998b).

Both CtBP and dCtBP have been reported as corepressors for an increasing number of transcriptional factors. CtBP is reported involved in the mechanism of Rb/p130 transcriptional repression (Meloni et al., 1999). CtBP interacts with zinc finger/homeodomain protein ZEB and its *Drosophila* homologue zfh-1. CtBP 1 and CtBP 2 are two CtBP proteins with slight sequence variations that were discovered to interact with mouse δ EF 1 protein in a yeast two hybrid screen (Furusawa et al., 1999). dCtBP protein mediates transcriptional repression by Knirps, Krüppel and Snail in the *Drosophila* embryo, and interacts with *Drosophila* protein Hairy in the embryo (Poortinga et al., 1998). dCtBP is also suggested to interact with polycomb group proteins

Figure 3. Loss of Knirps-mediated repression in a dCtBP mutant embryo. *LacZ-white* reporter genes were introduced into dCtBP mutant embryos and stained after in situ hybridization with a white antisense RNA probe. Cellularized embryos are oriented with anterior to the left and dorsal up (A and B). *white* staining patterns in a wild-type (A) and dCtBP mutant embryo (B). The reporter gene contains a *rhomboid* lateral stripe enhancer (NEE) and two synthetic Knirps-binding sites flanking the four Dorsal activator sites (see diagram beneathe the embryos) (From NIbu et al., 1998a).



(Sewalt 1999). Recent studies suggest that ectopic expression of the native Krüppel protein causes patterning defects in early embryos, which are reversed when the P-DLS-H motif is mutagenized (Zhang et al. 1999). These results suggest that Krüppel mediated repression also depends on the recruitment of the dCtBP corepressor.

Although both CtBP and dCtBP have been shown to interact with a number of transcriptional regulator proteins, the mechanisms through which they affect developmental processes are unclear. Both CtBP and dCtBP were reported to display significant homology to the D isomer 2-hydroxy acid dehydrogenase family (Schaper et al., 1995, Nibu et al., 1998b). Members of this family have so far been identified only from bacteria, plant and lower fungi (Arthur et al., 1991, Taguchi et al., 1991, Chow et al., 1993). However, neither CtBP nor dCtBP shows any dehydrogenase enzyme activity or NAD binding activity (Schaper et al., 1995). The mammalian CtBP protein has been shown to interact with the histone deacetylase HDAC1 (Sundqvist et al., 1998). Meanwhile, it was also reported that the SV 40 promoter, shown to be repressed by CtBP, is relatively insensitive to histone deacetylase inhibitors (Meloni et al., 1999), suggesting that this is unlikely to be the primary mechanism of CtBP mediated repression.

Previous reports showed that dCtBP interacts with the repression domain of Knirps protein though the conserved motif P-DLS-K. Meanwhile, it is a common phenomenon that one repressor could contain multiple repression domains which can independently exert repression function on its target genes. One example is the *Drosophila* Engrailed protein, in which two separate repression activities have been identified. One domain provides most of the activity in embryonic assays and on

integrated genes, and binds the Groucho corepressor, a protein that also interacts with the Hairy, Runt, and Dorsal repressors. Another region of Engrailed contains an activity that appears to be primarily active on transiently transfected reporter genes and does not bind Groucho (Tolkunova et al., 1998). The Hairy protein has also been found to contain multiple activities; Hairy also interacts with the Groucho cofactor via a C terminal WRPW motif, and a separate "Orange" domain mediates antagonistic activities toward Scute protein. Recent work shows that Hairy can also interact with the dCtBP protein via a third region of the protein (Poortinga et al., 1998), although it is not clear whether this interaction contributes to repression (Zhang et al., 1999). Krüppel has also been found to contain two separable repression domains, both of which are active in cell culture assays; these two domains have been reported to have different activator specificity (Hanna-Rose et al., 1997). Knirps repressor has been suggested to possess at least two independent repression domains. These two repression domains function autonomously to repress transcription through distinct mechanisms (Mao et al., manuscript in preparation). One is the C-terminal portion of the knirps protein, acting through a dCtBP dependent mechanism, and the other repression domain is located in the N-terminal region. The Nterminal repressor apparently functions through a dCtBP independent mechanism although the specific residues involved and molecular mechanisms of this repression activity are not clear.

CHAPTER 2

THE REPRESSION ACITIVITIES OF KNIRPS

Short-range repression activity of the Knirps protein

Short-range repression activities have been observed in the behavior of a number of repressors, in which repression occurs only when the targets are near the repressor. Krüppel and Snail are examples of short-range repressors. Knirps represses transcription within a certain distance from either the promoter or the enhancer. Previous studies indicated that endogenous Knirps was capable of blocking transcription when the binding sites were situated at -55 bp, but not at -130 bp from a heterologous promoter (Arnosti et al., 1996). Knirps can also repress a heterologous enhancer over a short distance (Arnosti et al., 1996). To determine the exact distance dependence of Knirps repression, and test whether the loss of activity with increasing distance represents a "step function" or a gradual tapering off of activity, transgenes were designed with tandem binding sites situated at -55, -70, -75, -100, -130 or -180 bp. These genes were introduced into Drosophila by P-element mediated germ line transformation, and the embryonic expression patterns of the transgenes were analyzed by in situ hybridization. Strong repression was observed in genes with Knirps binding sites whose 3' edges were situated at -55bp, -70, or -75 bp. The Knirps binding sites used in this gene have been shown to confer repression in a Knirps-dependent manner (Arnosti et al., 1996), and the repression was observed only in the presumptive abdomen and ventral anterior regions, where the knirps gene is expressed (Jäckle 1992). Repression was less effective in the -100 bp and -130 bp constructs, and almost undetectable in the construct with the sites at -180 bp. No differences were observed in the pattern of genes with repressor sites situated at -70 or -

75bp, indicating phasing effects are not important on this reporter (Mao et al., manuscript in preparation).

Gal4-Knirps, the model for the study of Knirps

Mutagenesis of the endogenous knirps gene leads to embryonic lethality. To study the mechanisms of the repression behavior of Knirps protein in embryos without interfering with the normal embryonic development, various recombinant knirps genes were constructed by replacing the DNA binding domain codons 1-74 of Knirps with the DNA binding domain codons 1-93 of the yeast Gal4 protein. Two reporter systems were constructed and subjected to the in vivo repression assay, in which a lac Z reporter gene was under the control of two enhancer elements. One was the even-skipped stripe 2 and stripe 3 enhancers and the Gal 4 cognate sites (UAS) are located adjacent to stripe 2 enhancer. The other was the even skipped stripe 3 and rhomboid enhancers with the Gal 4 recognition sites located within the rhomboid enhancer. In both cases, the proximal enhancers, stripe 2 in the first reporter and rhomboid in the second reporter, were repressed in the region where knirps was present. These results indicate that the Gal4-Knirps chimeric proteins are causing the same effect as the endogenous protein and Gal4-Knirps is a good model for study the repression mechanisms of Knirps protein in Drosophila embryos (Figure 4) (Mao et al., manuscript in preparation).

Figure 4. Gal4-Knirps chimeric repressors mimic the activity of endogenous Knirps portein on a rhomboid enhancer element. (A) Expression pattern of the eve stripe 3/rho lacZ reporter gene showing robust ventral expression directed from a rho enhancer element lacking endogenous Snail binding sites (Gray et al., 1996), and a central stripe from the eve stripe 3 enhancer. (B) Repression in ventral regions mediated by Gal4-Knirps 75-429 repressor protein expressed in ventral regions of the embryo under control of a *twist* promoter construct. (C) Repression mediated by the Gal4-Knirps 75-332 chimera, lacking the dCtBP interaction motif. (D) Repression mediated by the Gal4-Knirps 202-358 chimera, which contains the dCtBP interaction motif. Gal4 binding sites (marked UAS in the figure were introduced in a 600 bp rho enhancer at the positions previously used for targeting Knirps protein to this gene complex (Arnosti et al., 1996). Ventrolateral views are shown, with anterior to the left (From Mao et al., manuscript in preparation).





Mutational analysis of the Gal4-Knirps chimera.

A series of truncation mutations were introduced in the Gal4-Knirps gene to identify residues critical for repression. Genes encoding residues 75-332, 75-254, 75-189, 75-189 + 254-429, 188-429, or 189-254 fused to the Gal4 DNA binding domain were expressed in ventral regions of transgenic embryos under control of a twist promoter element. These chimeric repressors were tested on *lacZ* reporter genes activated by *eve* stripe enhancers (Figure 5A) (Mao et al., manuscript in preparation). A full-length 75-429 chimera showed effective repression of the proximal stripe 2 enhancer, while, consistent with the short-range of Knirps activity, the distal stripe 3 enhancer was not affected (Figure 5B) (Mao et al., manuscript in preparation). A C-terminal truncation removing residues 333-429 did not compromise activity (Figure 5C) (Mao et al., manuscript in preparation), although it does remove most of the dCtBP interaction region of Knirps (see below). More extensive C-terminal truncations starting at residues 254 or 189 were inactive, suggesting that a region of the protein from 254-332 might be necessary for repression (Figure 5D-E). The N terminal region 75-187 was dispensable for activity, as was the region of the protein from 189-254 (Figure 5F,G). The chimera containing only residues 189-254 was not active (Figure 5H), unlike the result obtained for a similar construct in transfection assays (Gerwin et al., 1994). Constructs were also tested on the eve stripe 3/ rho reporter gene as in Figure 3 and a stripe 2 lacZ gene (Arnosti et al., 1996), with identical results (data not shown). All constructs scored as active showed at least 20% of the embryos were repressed in blinded scoring assays,

Figure 5. dCtBP interaction region of Knirps is dispensible for repression activity in C-terminal truncated proteins. (A) Expression pattern of the *eve* stripe 2/stripe 3 reporter gene, with UAS binding sites shown adjacent to the stripe 2 element. (B) Expression of the Gal4-Knirps 75-429 gene represses stripe 2, but not stripe 3, in ventral regions. (C) Gal4-Knirps 75-332 chimera, lacking an intact dCtBP binding motif (gray box), is a functional repressor. (D, E) Truncation at codon 254 or 189 leads to loss of activity. (F) Deletion of residues 75-187 does not compromise repression activity. (G) Deletion of residues 189-254 does not compromise repression activity. Genes shown here were produced by introducing stop codons into the gene at appropriate sites, thus the overall transcript size and 3'UTR is conserved . Embryos are shown with anterior to left, dorsal side up (Mao et al., manuscript in preparation).


while inactive repressor genes and the reporter construct alone had less than 2% of the embryos scored as repressed (Mao et al., manuscript in preparation).

One of the Gal4-Knirps chimeric proteins, Gal4-Knirps 75-330, which contains the residues 75-330 of Knirps, and Gal4-Knirps 75-332, which contains the residues 75-332, do not have the dCtBP-binding motif but do show *in vivo* repression activity (Dr. Scott Keller unpublished results). In addition, Gal4-Knirps 75-332 protein does not interact with dCtBP in GST pull down assays (Dr. Carla Margulies unpublished results). Thus, binding to dCtBP *in vitro* depends on an intact interaction motif. However, this interaction is not a requirement for the activity of the 75-332 protein. These results suggest that dCtBP-binding is dispensable for the repression function of the N-terminal portion of Knirps protein, between residues 75 and 332.

CHAPTER 3

THE MINIMAL REPRESSION DOMAIN OF KNIRPS

Introduction

Like transcriptional activators (Mitchell and Tjian, 1989), many transcriptional repressors are modular factors since the effector domain can be separated from the DNA binding domain. Repression domains in many repressors can be classified according to the amino acid sequence, such as charged, alanine-rich and proline-rich domains (Gray et al., 1996). Previous work has demonstrated that a region between residue 75 and 429 is sufficient to confer transcriptional repression when separated from the DNA binding domain (Arnosti et al., 1996). To further identify the repression domains within this region, various recombinant *knirps* genes were constructed by replacing the DNA binding domain codons 1-74 of Knirps with a DNA binding domain to identify residues and regions critical for repression.

Materials and methods

Plasmids

Minimal repression domains: Fragments of the *knirps* open reading frame were generated by PCR from the pCarnegie 20 vector pN741 containing the *knirps* cDNA (G. Struhl, unpublished) with *Pfu* DNA polymerase (Stratagene), using different pairs of primers. The products were subcloned into the *Kpn*I and *Xba*I sites of the pTwiggy vector (Arnosti et al., 1996) containing *twi* enhancer element 2xPEe-Et and *twist* basal promoter. The constructs and the corresponding primers used were: 202-358-flag: oligo 1,

5'-CGGGGGTACCGCTGCCGCTGCAGCGGCTTCTGCTGCCGATGCCGCT-3'; <u>202-358-flag</u>: oligo 2, 5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC CACCTCCACTTCTTGATCCTCGGA-3';

211-358-flag: oligo 1,

5'- CGGGGTACCGATGCCGCTTACCGGCAGGAGATGTACAAGCACCGC-3'; 211-358-flag: oligo 2,

5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC CACCTCCACTTCTTGATCCTCGGA-3';

The amplified fragments were digested with *ClaI* and *XbaI* and used to replace the *ClaI-XbaI* fragment of the *knirps* cDNA clone in pBluescript(SK+). The *KpnI-XbaI* fragments of these clones were then inserted in pTwiggy (Arnosti et al., 1996). The final constructs encode Knirps amino acids followed by an eight amino-acid sequence including the FLAG epitope, DYKDDDDK.

248-358-flag: oligo 1,

5'-GGG TCGGTACCGCAGCCTCGGCCCGCCAGTCGCCCATCGAT-3'

248-358-flag: oligo 2,

5'-GGGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC CACCTCCACTTCTTGATCCTCGGA-3'

202-429-flag: oligo 1,

5'-CGGGGTACCGCTGCCGCTGCAGCGGCTTCTGCTGCCGATGCCGCT-3'

202-429-flag: oligo 2,

GTAATCGACACACACGAATATTCCCCTCAT-3'

211-429-flag: oligo 1,

5'- CGGGGTACCGATGCCGCTTACCGGCAGGAGATGTACAAGCACCGC-3' 211-429-flag: oligo 2,

5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCGTCATCCTT GTAATCGACACACGAATATTCCCCCTCAT-3'

P-element transformation, whole-mount in situ hybridization of embryos, and crosses to reporter lines. P-element transformation vectors were introduced into the *Drosophila* germline by injection of $y w^{67}$ embryos as described (Small et al., 1992) (Figure 6). For each gene construct, at least three separate lines were tested, and similar results were obtained in each case. In situ hybridizations were performed as described (Small et al., 1992) using digoxigenin-UTP labeled antisense RNA probes to *lacZ*. The Gal4-dCtBP chimeric lines used in Figure 11 were kindly supplied by Dr. Yutaka Nibu and Dr. Michael Levine.

Assays of in vivo repression activity. Transformant offsprings were crossed with reporter lines containing one of three reporters: 1) *even-skipped* stripe 2 linked to *evelacZ* (Arnosti et al., 1996), 2) *even-skipped* stripe 2 and stripe 3 enhancers linked to *evelacZ* (Nibu et al., 1998b). The stripe 2 and stripe 3 enhancers of even-skipped were placed 1.6 kb apart from each other, and two copies of the UAS sequence were introduced adjacent to the proximal enhancer, the stripe 2 enhancer. or 3) *eve* stripe 3 and *rhomboid* enhancers linked to the transposase-*lacZ* fusion gene (Hewitt et al., 1999).

Figure 6. The making of a transgenic fly.



Embryos generated by the crosses were fixed and stained by in situ hybridizations. To quantitate repression activity of Gal4-Knirps chimeras, heterozygous effector lines were crossed to homozygous reporter lines, and several hundred embryos aged to 2-4 hours from each cross were collected at room temperature, fixed and stained as described in Small et al., 1992. After mounting on microscope slides, embryos were visually scored in a blinded experiment for evidence of repression. Most functional repressors completely abolished ventral staining in the eve stripe 2 region; embryos exhibiting weakened but not complete repression were scored in a separate category. Typically, a larger proportion of older embryos exhibited repression, presumably because of the lag between the activation of the eve or rho enhancer and the production of adequate amounts of the Gal4-Knirps protein after its gene's transcription under the control of the twist enhancer. In this assay, the maximum percentage of embryos exhibiting repression in the assay would be 50%, because only half of the fertilized embryos receive the Gal4-Knirps effector gene from the heterozygous male parent. The actual percentages are lower than this because all embryos showing reporter gene expression were counted, including younger embryos in which repressors had not yet reached appreciable levels.

Results:

202-358 is a minimal repression domain of Knirps protein

Genes encoding portions of the *knirps* open reading frame and the Gal4DNA binding domain were expressed in ventral regions of transgenic embryos under control of a *twist* promoter element (Figure 7). These chimeric repressors were tested on a *lacZ*

Figure 7. The injection vector pTwiggy contains a *twist* enhancer element, which drives the expression of Gal4-Knirps proteins in the ventral region of the embryo, and a *white* gene, which serves as a marker of transgenics and the inverted repeats of the P element, which can mediate the transposition of the injection construct into the germline of *Drosophila* embryos.



reporter gene activated by eve stripe 2 and stripe 3 enhancers, with Gal4 binding UAS sequences adjacent to the stripe 2 element. An alanine-rich sequence is located within the region from residue 202 to 211. Constructs Gal4-Knirps 202-429, Gal4-Knirps 211-429, Gal4-Knirps 202-358, Gal4-Knirps 211-358 were designed to test the whether the alanine rich region is related to repression function of Knirps protein. A Pvull restriction site, located at codon 189 within the cDNA sequence of knirps, was used to generate the construct Gal4-knirps 189-358. Gal4-Knirps 189-358, Gal4-Knirps 202-429, Gal4-Knirps 211-429, Gal4-Knirps 202-358, Gal4-Knirps 211-358 showed effective repression of the proximal stripe 2 enhancer, while, consistent with the short-range of Knirps activity, the distal stripe 3 enhancer was not affected. (Representative examples of repressed and nonrepressed embryos from *in vivo* repression assays are shown in Figure 8). In construct Gal4-knirps 248-358, the similar repression was observed in a smaller proportion of embryos. That is to say, the ratio of the numbers of the repressed embryos to that of the non-repressed embryo is six times lower than knirps 189-358, knirps 202-358 etc., indicating that amino acids 248-358 may encode a weak repressor (Figure 9).

To further identify residues important for repression, Drs Keller and Foley tested Gal4 fusion proteins containing residues 202-358 and derivatives in transgenic assays. Their results have shown that deletions of residues 202-210 (202-358 Δ A), (alanines previously identified in a minimal repression domain in cell culture assays), 220-227 (202-358 Δ B), 228-251 (202-358 Δ C), or 292-313 (202-358 Δ D) did not impair repression activity, while deletions of residues 330-343 (202-358 Δ E) abolished repression completely (Figure 10). The region affected in 202-358 Δ E includes the residues P-DLS-K, recently shown to mediate Knirps interaction with the dCtBP protein

Figure 8. Representative embryos show the repression of *eve* stripe 2 by Gal4-Knirps. Transgenic embryos show the absence of stripe 2 expression in the ventral sides (A and B), while embryos lacking the Gal4-knirps transgene show equally well-expressed stripe 2 an stripe 3 (C and D).



Ventral view



8

Transgenic embryos (St2 is repressed)



C

9

Control embryos (St2 and St3 are expressed)



Figure 9. The schematic structures and the in vivo repression activities of the Gal4-Knirps mutant proteins. Three transgenic lines of each construct were assayed except that only one line of 189-358 and one line of 248-358 were generated and assayed.

Activities of the C-terminal Knirps mutants



Figure 10. A central region of Knirps requires the dCtBP binding motif for activity. Genes were generated by PCR amplification of regions of the *knirps* gene, followed by site-directed mutagenesis (ΔA - ΔE) to remove internal conserved residues (Gerwin et al., 1994) and nonconserved residues , ΔC . The dCtBP binding motif is removed in ΔE . The activities of the genes are indicated to the right of the construct.



(Nibu et al., 1998a, 1998b). The lack of repression activity of protein 202-358 ΔE could be caused by the lack of important repression residues, but also could be due to the lack of protein expression in embryos. To address this question, gel mobility shifts experiments have been carried out and the mobility shift complexes formed by the mutant protein 202-358 ΔE and the Gal4 binding site-containing probe were detected in the polyacrylamide gel (see Chapter 6), indicating that the non-functional protein is expressed. Alanine scanning mutations affecting these residues have been shown to compromise the repression activity of a chimeric Gal4-Knirps protein containing residues 255-429 (Nibu et al., 1998a) and by ectopically expressed Knirps (Nibu et al., 1998b). Our results indicate that the minimal 202-358 repression construct is also dependent on dCtBP for activity. A minimal construct containing only residues 248-291 and 314-358 was also active, consistent with earlier reports that residues N terminal to 255 were dispensable for activity (Nibu et al., 1998a). Our result was consistent with Nibu et al., who found that the dCtBP-binding is important for the repression function of knirps. On the other hand, two other constructs, Gal4-knirps 75-332, Gal4-knirps 75-330 lack the dCtBP-binding motif and display robust repression activity in vivo. Given the fact that Knirps 75-332 do not bind to dCtBP in vitro in the glutathione S-transferase pull down assay (Dr. Carla Margulies unpublished results), our results indicate that the dCtBPbinding motif is dispensible in the N-terminal portion between residues 75 and 330.

Activity of the dCtBP repressor protein from a distal enhancer position.

Our results suggest that for the N-terminal repressor, residues 75-330, binding of the dCtBP repressor protein to Knirps is not required for repression. We considered the

possibility that dCtBP may merely affect an allosteric alteration of the Knirps protein. allowing the Knirps protein's own repression domain to contact a target in the transcription machinery. In this case, dCtBP would not directly mediate transcriptional repression. Previous experiments have established that tethering dCtBP or a murine homologue, CtBP2, to a promoter inhibited gene expression, suggesting that the cofactor is itself capable of repression (Turner and Crossley, 1998; Nibu et al., 1998). However, these assays used promoter-proximal Gal4 binding sites that may be subject to steric hindrance effects. Therefore, we tested whether the Gal4-dCtBP protein was active from a distal enhancer site within the *rho* enhancer (Figure 11). Expression of a Gal4-dCtBP chimera under the control of a Krüppel promoter inhibited activity of the *rho* enhancer, but not the eve stripe 3 enhancer that is far away from the Gal 4 binding sites, demonstrating that this cofactor is capable of independent action as a repressor when targeted to a specific enhancer. Thus, the central 202-358 portion of Knirps is likely to act through dCtBP, and the N terminal portion of Knirps that does not bind to dCtBP may repress via an alternative pathway.

Figure 11. The Gal4-dCtBP chimeric protein acts as an independent repressor within an enhancer. (A) Expression pattern of the *eve* stripe /*rho lacZ* reporter gene, showing robust ventral expression directed from a *rho* enhancer element lacking Snail binding sites (1), and a central stripe from the *eve* stripe 3 enhancer. (B) Repression of *rho* enhancer activity in the central portion of the embryo mediated by the Gal4dCtBP chimera. The repressor is driven by a Krüppel promoter (25). Gal4 binding sites were introduced in a 600 bp *rho* enhancer at the positions previously used for targeting Knirps protein to this gene complex (1). Ventrolateral views are shown, with anterior to the left.



CHAPTER 4

THE ANALYSIS OF THE N-TERMINAL REPRESSOR OF KNIRPS

Introduction

Many repressor proteins have multiple repression domains. Engrailed, Hairy and Krüppel are examples (Tolkunova et al., 1998, Poortinga et al., 1998, Light et al., 1994). Our data suggest that Knirps protein also possesses more than one repression domain. As previous work has pointed out, the residues 331-337 PMDLSMK is the dCtBP-binding motif and disruption of this motif will abolish dCtBP-Knirps interaction. The mutant proteins, which have this particular motif PMDLSMK, are potent repressors in embryos, for example, the Gal4-Knirps 202-358. Meanwhile the mutant protein Gal4-Knirps 75-330 is a functional repressor although it does not contain the dCtBP-binding motif, which indicates that there is another repression domain located in the N-terminal region between residue 75 to 330 and this N-terminal region confers transcriptional repression independent of recruiting dCtBP protein. To reveal the possible mechanisms involved and to define the important amino acids or motifs involved in repression for the Nterminal repressor, the polymerase chain reactions with corresponding primers were used to generate a series of N-terminal truncation Gal4-Knirps mutants (See Materials and Methods). These mutants contain the cDNA sequence of knirps, starting at various positions and ending at codon 330. They are constructs 94-330, 124-330, 139-330, 169-330, 189-330, 200-330 and 75-304.

Materials and Methods:

N-terminal deletions:

Fragment of the knirps open reading were generated from the pCarnegie 20 vector pN741 containing the knirps cDNA (G. Struhl, unpublished) with *PfuI* DNA polymerase (Stratagene) with polymerase chain reactions, using different pairs of primers. The products were subcloned into the KpnI and XbaI sites of the pTwiggy vector containing *twist* enhancer element 2xpEe-Et and twist basal promoter. The constructs and the corresponding primers were:

94-330: primer 1,

5'-GGGTCGGTACCCACGAACAGGCCGCCGCAGCGGCGGGCAAG-3'

94-330: primer 2,

5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC TCCTTCTTGAGCGGAAACGGTGGG-3'

124-330: primer 1,

5'-GGGTCGGTACCGCCGCAGCGGGCTCGCCACACACTCCCGGATTTGGG-3'

124-330: primer 2,

5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC TCCTTCTTGAGCGGAAACGGTGGG-3'

136-330: primer 1,

5'-GGGTCGGTACCCACCACCATCATCAGCAGCAGCAGCAC-3'

136-330: primer 2,

5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC

TCCTTCTTGAGCGGAAACGGTGGG-3'

169-330: primer 1,

5'-GGGTCGGTACCGCCGCAGCGTCCGCCGCCCTGCCCTTCTTCAGC-3'

169-330: primer 2,

5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC

TCCTTCTTGAGCGGAAACGGTGGG-3'

189-330: primer 1,

5'-GGGTCGGTACCCTGCCCCACACCTCCTCTTCCCAGGCTAC-3'

189-330: primer 2,

5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC

TCCTTCTTGAGCGGAAACGGTGGG-3'

200-300: primer 1,

5'-GGGTCGGTACCGCAAGTGCTGCCGCTGCAGCGGCTTCTGCT-3'

200-300: primer 2,

5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC

TCCTTCTTGAGCGGAAACGGTGGG-3'

75-304: primer 1,

5'- GGGTCGGTACCGCAGCCTCGGCCCGCCAGTCGCCCATCGAT-3'

75-304: primer 2,

5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC

GGGCGACAAGCTCTGCATCTTGGC-3'

75-304 plasmid was constructed by polymerase chain reaction and subcloned into the

ClaI and XbaI site of 75-429 in Twiggy plasmid.

DNA sequencing reactions confirmed all the constructs except 75-304 and 94-330. Both construct 75-304 and construct 94-330 contain a point mutation from base T to base C within residue 107.

P-element transformation, whole-mount in situ hybridization of embryos, and crosses to reporter lines.

The methods are the same as described in Chapter 3

Assays of in vivo repression activity.

The methods are the same as described in Chapter 3.

Results:

The mutant *knirps* genes 94-330, 124-330, 139-330, 169-330 189-330, 200-330 and 75-304 were constructed as described in the materials and methods. 124-330, 169-330 and 200-330 were constructed but to be transformed into embryos. Construct 75-304 was constructed and transformed into embryos but to be assayed for repression activity. 94-330, 139-330 and 189-330 were transformed into yw^{67} fly embryos. 19, 4 and 10 transgenic lines were generated from construct 94-330, 139-330 and 189-330 respectively. The 94-330 transgenic lines were divided into three pools by mixing the transgenic males from individual lines with each approximately 50 flies per pool. 4 lines of 139-330 were mixed into one pool, and 10 lines of 189-330 were mixed into one pool to obtain sufficient number of male flies. The reporter lines contain the stripe 2 and stripe 3 enhancer and two copies of UAS sequences (the Gal4-Knirps binding sites) adjacent to the stripe 2 enhancer. Crossing the males from the transgenic lines of 94-330, 139-330, 139-330

and 189-330 respectively with the virgin females from the reporter lines was performed. Embryos from these crosses were stained and looked for the expression pattern of the *lac* Z gene under the control of stripe 2 and stripe 3 enhancers (See Materials and Methods). Gal4 Knirps 94-330 and Gal4-Knirps 139-330 repress the proximal enhancer stripe 2 but not the distal stripe 3, while Gal4-Knirps 189-330 repress neither stripe 2 nor the stripe 3 (Fig 12). These results suggest that amino acids 139 to 189 contain a motif necessary for repression.

Discussion and conclusion

The repressed embryo ratio in 94-330 (12%-18%) is higher than that in 139-330 (5%-7%). This phenomenon can be explained by either 1) The repression activity of the N-terminal repressor is additive, i. e. An auxiliary element located between residue 94 and 139 is facilitating the repression in addition to residues 139-189. Or 2) Position effect altered observed repression activities in P element mediated transformations. When a transposon is translocated into the locus of a heterochromatin region, the transgene will be silenced. Therefore, even a transgene capable of encoding a potent repressor may not express repression activities in some transgenic lines. The repression assays presented in this chapter are done by mixing several transgenic lines together due to the insufficient number of male flies present in each individual line. The embryos scored for repression in this study are derived from the pool of lines with different sites of integration. Thus, the observed repression activities monitored by the average repressed embryo ratios are expected to be small if a particular transgene is particularly sensitive to position effects.

Figure 12. The schematic structures of the amino-terminal Knirps mutants. The Knirps DNA binding domain is indicated in green, while the Gal4 DNA binding domain is indicated in red. Gal4 fusion proteins containing residues 75-330, 94-330, 139-330 showed effective in vivo repression activities, whereas the Gal4-fusion protein 189-330 does not possesses repression activity.



The lack of region from amino acid 139-189 inactivates the protein 189-330. This region contains a LGYPSY box that is conserved in Knirps derived from several different insect species: Drosophila melanogaster, Drosophila virilis and Drosphila domestica (Figure 13). In addition, the region between amino acid 139 and 149 contains multiple charged residues of histidine and glutamine and is also well conserved (Figure 13). Many transcriptional regulator proteins function through protein-protein interactions, for example activator VP16 interacts with TAF (the TBP associated factors) and Drosophila eve protein interact with TBP. Regulations of transcription appear to be the result of multiple interactions between the regulator proteins and the targets. It was previously reported a glutamine-rich region constitute the activation domain of VP16 and Sp1. Therefore, it is likely that the glutamine-rich region present in Knirps is also important for repression activity. These predictions are consistent with the observations that the multiple glutamine-rich regions spanning protein 94-330 and 139-330 contribute to repression while the region 189-330 does not (Figure 12). The LGYPSY box contained in the functional proteins 94-330 and 139-330 but not in the non-functional 189-330 constitutes the repression domain. Proline has the tendency of introducing turns into the protein secondary structure. It is likely that proline residue in the LGYPSY box contributes to the repression function of Knirps by helping the protein maintain proper conformation.

Although the Kni box is conserved in all the three species: Drosophila melanogaster, Drosophila virilis and Drosphila domestica, the lack of the Kni box in the Figure 13. Sequence comparison of Knirps-homologous proteins from different species: *Drosophila melanogaster*, *Drosophila virilis* and *Drosophila domestica*. Conservation of amino acids between the different proteins are indicated by a grey background. Positions 75-93 are located as the absolutely conserved Kni box. Other conserved protein motifs are marked by boxes as well, such as LGYPSY box. The first N-terminal Knirps residues of recombinant proteins 94-330, 139-330 and 189-339 are indicated by the arrows. (From Gerwin et al., 1994)



Q	
8	
H	

	PP. HILLPPOTRAS	PP. HILLPOTHAS	PP. HILLPOTHT	PPEHLLIPOTEPALYEHHOGILIKPTPEQQQAAVAAAAVQHLIMS (282-338)
->	ğ	ğ	2	
-	. BAALPTT BIDIGUPH QBH	AAAALPTFBBBC ATPQBB	BAANKPTTBADDICHEPHCAAABPABJ	LAGRUNDPL
	D.mel. NHI:	D.vir. XXII:	M. dom. NHI	D.mel.KURL

protein 139-330 does not impair the repression activity, it suggests that this motif is not necessary for repression.

The conclusions and discussions above were based on the presumption that all the three recombinant proteins, 94-330, 139-330 and 189-330 are expressed in embryos. 189-330 is the only one that does not display activity in vivo, thus, further experiments need to be done to detect the protein expression level of the construct 189-330 in embryos as describes in Chapter 6.

The results indicate that the region between 139-189 containing the LGYPSY and poly histidines and poly glutamines is important for the function of the amino terminal repressor and Knirps 139-330 contains the minimal N-terminal repression domain.

CHAPTER 5

DNA BINDING DOMAIN, THE INHIBITORY ELEMENT IN KNIRPS REPRESSION
Introduction

A full-length wild type Knirps protein was misexpressed in the same location as the *even-skipped* stripe 2 by experimental manipulations in previous experiments. Knirps diffused into the stripe 3 region and binds to its cognate sites within the stripe 3 enhancer, eliminating the expression of even-skipped gene in the area of stripe 3. Meanwhile it has been observed that alanine substitution mutations in the dCtBP-binding motif, (PMDL were mutated into AAAA) caused the derepression of *eve* stripe 3 (Nibu et al., EMBO, 1999) (Figure 2). The conclusions from this experiment were that dCtBP-binding motif is required for full-length knirps to repress *even-skipped* stripe 3.

However, it was observed that the Gal4-Knirps 75-330, which contains a heterologous DNA binding domain and lacks the C-terminal tail residues 331-429, including the dCtBP binding motif, repressed transcription when assayed on the *lacZ* reporter controlled by *eve* stripe 2 and stripe 3 enhancers. The differences between the repression caused by the full-length Knirps and that caused by the Gal4-Knirps 75-330 are as follows: 1) the presence or absence of the C-terminal stretch of amino acids, 2) the DNA binding domain, 3) the enhancers which drive the ectopic Knirps expression (*eve stripe* 2 versus *twist*), 4) the target genes (stripe 3 of endogenous *eve* enhancer versus a stripe 2 and stripe 3 LacZ chimera enhancers). Based on the difference 1) and 2), we can infer that either the zinc finger DNA binding domain of Knirps or the C-terminal tail abolishes the protein fuction. Thus, a reasonable hypothesis is that there maybe an inhibitory element present in either the zinc finger DNA binding domain of Knirps or in the C-terminal tail. I chose to test the C-terminal inhibition hypothesis first. Therefore,

the following constructs were designed. Knirps cDNAs starting from 75 and ending with different residues in the C-terminal region between residue 330 and 429 with a mutated dCtBP-binding motif (Nibu et al., 1998a) fused to Gal4 DNA binding domain were constructed and tested for *in vivo* repression activities. These constructs are: Gal4 knirps 75-429*, Gal4-knirps 75-394* and Gal4-knirps 75-364* (* indicate the mutations in the dCtBP-binding motif) (See materials and methods).

Materials and Methods:

C-terminal deletions:

Fragments of the knirps open reading were generated from the plasmid Casper $22F\Delta KE$ (Nibu et al., 1998a) containing the alanine substitution of the dCtBP-binding motif in the knirps cDNA with *pful* DNA polymerase (Stratagene) with polymerase chain reactions, using different pairs of primers. The products were subcloned into the ClaI and XbaI sites of the 75-429 vector containing *twist* enhancer element 2xPEe-Et and twist basal promoter. The constructs and the corresponding primers used were:

75-429*: oligo1,

5'-GGGTCGGTACCGCAGCCTCGGCCCGCCAGTCGCCCATCGAT-3'

75-429*: oligo2,

5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC GAACTTCCGGCGCGGAGCCACCTC-3'

75-394*: oligo1,

5'-GGG TCGGTACCGCAGCCTCGGCCCGCCAGTCGCCCATCGAT-3'

75-394*: oligo2,

5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC GAACTTCCGGCGCGGAGCCACCTC- 3' 75-364*: oligo1, 5'-GGG TCGGTACCGCAGCCTCGGCCCGCCAGTCGCCCATCGAT-3' 75-364*: oligo2, 5'-GGGGAATCTAGACTAACTAATTACTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATC

GAACTTCCGGCGCGGAGCCACCTC-3'

P element transformation, whole-mount in situ hybridization of embryos, and crosses to reporter lines.

The methods are the same as described in Chapter 3.

Assays of in vivo repression activity.

The methods are the same as described in chapter 3.

Results:

Three constructs encode the Gal4-Knirps proteins with the mutated dCtBPbinding motif, Gal4-knirps 75-429*, Gal4-knirps 75-394* and Gal4-knirps 75-364* were transformed into fly embryos and assayed on the reporter *lacZ* gene under the control of the stripe 2, 3 enhancers for repression activities. Three transgenic lines of Gal4 knirps 75-429* were tested and an average of 21-26% embryos showed robust repression of the *eve* stripe 2 enhancer in the region where Gal4-Knirps 75-429* is expressed, indicating that Gal4-Knirps75-429* is a functional repressor (Figure 14). The difference in activity between the functional repressor, Gal4 Knirps 75-429*, with the non-functional protein, full length mutant Knirps protein (Nibu et al., EMBO 1998, also see the beginning of Chapter 5) could rely on the different DNA binding domains. Our result indicates that replacement of the Knirps DNA binding domain with the Gal4 DNA binding domain rescued the function of the mutated 75-429 portion (dCtBP-binding motif is mutated). Similarly, one of two Gal4-Knirps 75-394* lines assayed and two of three Gal4-Knirps 75-364* lines assayed also showed repression activity and elimination of the staining of the *even-skipped* stripe 2 in the ventral portion of the embryos were observed (Figure 14). However, one line of each construct failed to show repression. These variations in activity between lines of the same constructs may reflect position effects, i.e. the chromosomal position of the integrated P element causes variation in the level of expression of the transgenes.

Discussion and Conclusion:

Mutagenizing of the dCtBP-binding motif in the Gal4 Knirps 75-429*, Gal4-Knirps 75-394* and Gal4-Knirps 75-364* did not affect the repression activity, suggesting that the dCtBP-binding is not a requirement for repression by these proteins. This result not only confirms the result that protein encoded by construct Knirps 75-330 in which the dCtBP-binding motif is completely deleted showed effective repression (Mao et al., manuscript in preparation), but also provides a hint as to the role of Knirps DNA binding domain on Knirps repression function. Mutation in the dCtBP-binding motif abolished the repression activity of Knirps protein with the Knirps DNA binding domain, but did

Figure 14. The schematic representation of the carboxy terminal mutants of Knirps protein and their repression activities. Blue boxes represent the Knirps DNA binding domainand the red boxes represent the Gal4 DNA binding domain. With the same alanine mutations, Gal4 DNA fusion proteins containing residues 75-429, 75-394 and 75-364 show effective repression whereas when linked to the Knirps DNA binding domain, residues 75-429 showed no repression activity. Three transgenic lines of 75-429, two transgenic lines of 75-394 and two transgenic lines of 75-364 showed repression. The embryos from lines that showed repression were scored and average ratios of the repressed embryos for each constructs were indicated.



.

not affect activity of the knirps protein with a Gal4 binding domain. In addition Gal4dCtBP chimera shows good repression. These observations help to clarify the repression mechanisms of Knirps protein. Regarding what are the roles of the knirps DNA binding domain and binding to dCtBP in repression activity of knirps, I propose three models to explain the observations above:

- dCtBP promotes dimerization of the Knirps protein with the Knirps binding domain to exert effective repression. As a member of the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily, Knirps is very likely to repress transcription as a dimer. As a matter of fact, in our transgenic assays, the Knirps binding sites consists of 16 nucleotides with inverted repeats (Arnosti et al., 1996). However, there is also evidence that Knirps can form a monomer as well as a dimer in gel retardation assays (Gerwin et al., 1994). In the embryo, whether Knirps exert repression as a monomer or as a dimer is not clear. dCtBP is known to share significant homology with the D-isomer 2hydroxy acid dehydrogenases (Schaeper et al., 1995). Members of this particular family of dehydrogenase have been shown to form homodimers. It is possible that the homology between dCtBP and the dehydrogenase family constitutes the preservation of structural rather than enzymatic features and dCtBP-Knirps interaction facilitates Knirps dimerization and leads to effective repression (Figure 15).
- 2) The Knirps DNA binding domain prevents the Knirps repression domain from functioning. Mutations in the dCtBP-binding motif disrupt the repression function of the full-length Knirps protein, but not the Gal4-Knirps protein, It is likely that the

Knirps DNA binding domain acts as an inhibitory element in addition to its role of DNA binding. The recruitment of dCtBP relieves this inhibition possibly due to allosteric changes and restores activity of the repression domain (Figure 16).

3) The repression domain with the mutated dCtBP-binding motif interferes with DNA binding by the Knirps DNA binding domain. Binding to dCtBP causes conformational changes that disrupt this interference (Figure 17). Figure 15. The schematic representation of the model I. dCtBP helps Knirps dimerization to perform effective repression. The green circles represent the Knirps DNA binding domain. The black boxes represent the repression domain(s) of Knirps protein. "AAA" represents the alanine substitution mutation within the repression domain.



Figure 16. Schematic representation of model II. The DNA binding domain interferes with the function of the repression domain. "AAA" represents the alanine substitution mutation in the dCtBP binding motif. (A) The mutation in the dCtBP binding motif inactivates Knirps through the inhibitory element within the Knirps DNA binding domain (in blue). (B) Wild-type Knirps represses transcription through recruiting dCtBP (in yellow). (C) Mutations in the dCtBP ginding motif do not affect the repression activity of the Gal-Knirps function.



71

•

Figure 17. The schematic representation of model III. The repression domain inhibits DNA binding of Knirps. (A) The Gal4-Knirp with the alanine substitutions in the dCtBP motif is able to repress transcription. (B) The same mutations in the Knirps protein with the Knirps binding domain (in blue) affect DNA binding of Knirps so that no repression occurs. (C) Wild –type Knirps recruits dCtBP (in yellow) so that it binds to DNA and represses transcription.



CHAPTER 6

DETECTION OF CHIMERIC THE GAL4-KNIRPS REPRESSOR PROTEINS

Introduction

The difference in repression activities of the mutant proteins described in previous chapters could reflect some variables not directly related to repression, such as protein expression or protein stability. To measure the relative amount of protein in each transgenic line, Knirps polyclonal antibody was used to detect Gal4-Knirps proteins by in situ antibody staining. Only the expression of the wild type Knirps protein was detected in the non-transgenic embryos, while in the transgenic embryos from Knirps 189-358 line, specific additional Gal4-Knirps mutant proteins were detected (Figure 18). However, the mutant protein signal has not been found in other transgenic embryos (embryos from Knirps 202-358, Knirps 211-358 and Knirps 248-358). Anti-Flag monoclonal antibody was used in a similar assay, but no specific recombinant protein was detected. A possible explanation is that the protein expression level is not high enough.

The mutant proteins from the full-length Gal4-Knirps 75-429 over-expressed in *E. coli* was detected by Western blotting using a flag antibody and Knirps polyclonal antibody respectively (data not shown), but no recombinant proteins have been detected yet. It is possible that the transgenes are expressed at levels below detection but still high enough to repress transcription.

Materials and methods:

Whole mount in situ antibody staining:

Figure 18. The protein expression patterns of a non-transgenic embryo (top) and a transgenic embryo from Gal4-Knirps 189-358 line were detected by anti-Knirps antibody staining (in dark-gray). The lateral views of both embryos show that the recombinant protein expressed specifically in the ventral region of the transgenic embryos as expected.

I.



Gal4-Knirps recombinant protein



A transgenic embryo from 189-358 transgenic line

A nontransgenic embryo **Endogenous Knirps**

Polyclonal anti-Knirps antibody raised in guinea pig (kindly provided by D. Kosman) was used for the in situ antibody staining using the conditions reported previously (Macdonald et al., 1986).

Embryo nuclear proteins extraction:

Large scale preparation: 500 ml bleach-dechorionated embryos were washed with TBS (Tris buffered saline), the TBS was removed and the embryo pellet was resuspended in 600 µL ice-cold buffer A (10 mM HEPES pH7.4; 10 mM KCl; 0.1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 0.5 mM PMSF. PMSF and DTT were added fresh). Embryos were transferred to a 35 mm petri dish and smashed and homogenized using the bottom of a scintillation vial until no intact embryos could be seen under a microscope. The homogenate was transferred back to an Eppendorf tube. The petri dish was rinsed with 200 µL buffer A twice and the wash fraction was collected into the Eppendorf as well. The homogenate was centrifuged for 30s at 250g force. The nuclear pellet was resuspended in 300 µL ice-cold buffer C (10 mM HEPES, 0.4 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1 mM DTT, 0.5 mM PMSF. DTT and PMSF were added fresh). The tube was gently rocked on a rotator for 30 min at 4°C. The extract was centrifuged for 5 min at 4°C and supernatant was frozen in aliquots at -70°C. The protein yield by this preparation is between 1.5 µg/µl-3.0 µg/µl.

Small scale preparation: 50 ml bleach-dechorionated embryos were washed with TBS (Tris buffered saline), the TBS was removed and the embryo pellet was resuspended in 50 μ L ice-cold buffer A (10 mM HEPES pH7.4; 10 mM KCl; 0.1 mM EDTA, 1 mM

DTT, 0.5 mM PMSF. PMSF and DTT were added fresh). Embryos were transferred to an Eppendorf tube and smashed and homogenized using a small pestle (from Fisher) until no intact embryos could be seen under a microscope. The pestle was rinsed with 25 μ L buffer A twice and the wash fraction was collected in the same tube. The homogenate was centrifuged for 30s at 250g force. The nuclear pellet was resuspended in 50 μ L ice-cold buffer C (10 mM HEPES, 0.4 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1 mM DTT, 0.5 mM PMSF. DTT and PMSF were added fresh). The tube was gently rocked on a rotator for 30min, with mixing the suspension with the micropippet tip every 6 min. The extract was centrifuged for 10 min at 4°C and supernatant was frozen in aliquots in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70°C. The protein yield by this preparation is between 1.5 μ g/ μ l - 5.0 μ g/ μ l.

Gel mobility shifts

The DNA used in the gel mobility shift experiments has the sequence 5'-GATCTCGGAGGACTGTCCTCCGATGCG-3' on the top strand and 5'-CGCATCGGAGGACAGTCCTCCGAGATC-3' on the bottom strand. The double stranded DNA was labeled with [γ^{32} P]-ATP by T4 polynucleotide kinase. 6 µg protein from each embryo nuclear extract was incubated with 4.5 fmol radioactively labeled oligo in a binding buffer containing 7.5 µL GSB (50 mM HEPES, 10 mM MgCl₂, 20% glycerol, 2 mM DTT), 0.25 µL BSA (10 mg/ml) and 0.1 µL sonicated salmon sperm DNA (10 mg/ml from Gibco). Samples were loaded on a two-hour-prerun 4% polyacrylamide gel (30:1, acrylamide/bis) containing 1/2 x TBE buffer (Tris, Borate, EDTA). Electrophoresis was at 150v at room temperature for 1.5 h and bands were visualized in a phosphorimager using ImageQuant software.

Results

Detection of fusion proteins by gel mobility shift assay

The mutant proteins retain DNA-binding ability because of the intact Gal4 DNA binding domain. Consequently, gel mobility shift assay allows us to detect the protein-DNA complex with nuclear extracts prepared from transgenic embryos by the large preparation method. Oligo UAS (double-stranded oligo consists of 5'-

GATCTCGGACTGTCCTCCGATGCG-3') was phosphorylated with γ^{32} P-ATP to act as the DNA response element probe. The binding of radioactively labeled UAS oligo to the Gal4-Knirps 202-358 protein remains unchanged upon addition of a non-specific oligo (double stranded oligo: 5'-GACTACAAGGATGACGATGACAAGCAG-3') was added in increasing concentration. However, adding specific, unlabeled oligo of the same nucleotide sequence (Figure 19) competed off the binding of radioactively labeled oligo to the protein. These results indicate that the Gal4-Knirps proteins are stably expressed in the transgenic lines in detectable levels and possess the ability to interact with DNA.

Antibodies can be used in a particular kind of gel shift assay, named antibody super-shift experiments, to assist the detection of epitope-tagged protein. In these assays, two incubation mixtures were assayed by electrophoresis in an acrylamide gel in parallel. Figure 19. Gal4-Knirps 202-358 protein binds to its cognate sites specifically. 5 μ g Gal4-Knirps 202-358 protein from nuclear extract were prepared as described in Materials and Methods. 4.5 fmol ³²P-labeled UAS probe were incubated with non-specific oligo of different amounts 22.5 fmol, 90 fmol and 450 fmol (lanes 2, 3 and 4) and incubated with specific oligo of different amounts: 22.5 fmol, 90 fmol and 450 mol specific on the specific oligo of different amounts 22.5 fmol, 90 fmol and 450 mol specific oligo of different amounts: 22.5 fmol, 90 fmol and 450 mol specific oligo of different amounts and 450 mol specific oligo of different amounts and 450 mol specific oligo of different amounts and 450 mol specific oligo of different amounts: 22.5 fmol, 90 fmol and 450 mol specific oligo are indicated by arrows.

ļ.



One is the mixture of the DNA probe and the recombinant proteins and the other is the incubation mixture of the DNA probe, the recombinant protein and the antibody that can recognize the recombinant protein. Consequently, two complexes of different sizes will be formed, indicated by the different mobilities in the acrylamide gel. Nuclear proteins prepared by the large preparation from transgenic embryos of Knirps 189-358-flag, Knirps 202-358-flag, Knirps 248-358-flag and non-transgenic embryos from vw^{67} were assayed in gel shift conditions. Recombinant proteins Knirps 189-358-flag, Knirps 202-358 and Knirps 248-358-flag were all able to bind to the labeled UAS oligo, form specific complexes, and migrate differently in the acrylamide gel (Figure 20 lanes 4, 7 and 12). The anti-Knirps polyclonal antibody was able to supershift both DNA bound Gal4-Knirps 189-358-flag and Gal4 Knirps 202-358-flag (lanes 6, 14 respectively), but only disrupt the Gal4-Knirps 248-358-flag and DNA complex (lane 9). Meanwhile, the anti-flag antibody was able to form supershifted complexes with Gal4-Knirps 189-358flag and Gal4-Knirps 248-358-flag (lanes 5 and 8), but not the non-flag epitope tagged protein. In addition, the DNA/protein complex and supershift complexes are not observed in the assays with vw⁶⁷ extracts from non-transgenic embryos except that a weak nonspecific complex formed when the anti-flag antibody is added (lane2).

202-358 ΔE , a non-functional protein, is stably expressed in transgenic embryos.

The deletion mutation in the dCtBP-binding motif eliminated the repression activity of 202-358 ΔE proteins, spanning from Knirps amino acid 202 to 358, and also abolished binding to dCtBP *in vitro* (Drs Scott Keller and Carla Margulies unpublished Figure 20. Gal4-Knirps 189-358-Flag, 248-358-Flag and 202-358-Flag are stably expressed in transgenic embryos. Nuclear protiens from wild type yw⁶⁷ embryos and trangenic lines Gal4 189-358, 248-358 and 202-358 were extracted from the embryos by the large-scale preparation as described in Materials and Methods. Approximately 6 µg nuclear protein of each line and 4.5 fmol ³²P-labeld UAS probe were used in each gel mobility shift reacion. Gal4-Knirps 189-358-Flag was incubated with the UAS probe alone, or the probe and the anti-Flag antibody, or the probe and the anti-Knirps antibody and assayed in the acrylamide gel under the conditions described as the Materials and Methods (lanes 4,5 and 6). The gel mobility shifts reactions were performed with Gal4-248-358-Flag (lanes 8, 9 and 10), 202-358 (lanes 13,14 and 15) and nuclear proteins from wild type yw^{67} embryos (lanes 1, 2 and 3). Anti-Flag and anti-Knirps antibody were incubated with the UAS probe, and reaction mixtures were also assayed in gel shift conditions (lanes 11 and 12).

Detection of Gal4-Knirps proteins by gel-retardation



observations). Two factors could be responsible for the lack of function of the mutant proteins: the recombinant protein not being expressed and the lack of intact repression domain such as the dCtBP-binding motif. Therefore, the inactivity of the 202-358 ΔE construct can be explained by three hypotheses: 1. dCtBP protein is required for stabilizing the protein and the inability of 202-358 ΔE proteins binding to dCtBP will result in the protein becoming unstable, or 2. dCtBP is acting as a corepressor for the repression activity of Knirps 202-358 protein and the inability of 202-358 ΔE proteins to bind dCtBP will result in the loss of repression activity, or 3, dCtBP plays dual roles as described as above. To test the first hypothesis, antibody supershift experiment was performed to test if there is any level of 202-358 ΔE protein expression in transgenic embryos. 202-358 ΔE protein possesses a flag peptide, N-Asp Tyr Lys Asp Asp Asp Asp Lys-C, at the carboxyl end. The flag-tagged proteins are recognizable to monoclonal anti-Flag antibodies (Pharmacia). In antibody super-shift experiments, two incubation mixtures were assayed by electrophoresis in an acrylamide gel in parallel. One is the mixture of the DNA probe and the recombinant proteins and the other is the incubation mixture of the DNA probe, the recombinant protein and the antibody that can recognize the recombinant protein. Consequently, two complexes of different sizes will be formed, indicated by the different mobilities in the acrylamide gel.

202-358 ΔE with the deletion in the coding region for the dCtBP-binding motif, was constructed, transformed into embryos and assayed by Dr. Scott Keller. No *in vivo* repression activity was observed in all the transgenic lines of this construct. Nuclear proteins of three lines of 202-358 ΔE : lines 202-358 ΔE -5, 202-358 ΔE -10 and 202-358 ΔE -13, and one line of the construct 202-358: line 202-358-4B, were extracted using the

sn lat tra D' lar ca (la pr shi Hd sec sha fol ina 21. 201 pro able lant

small preparation protocol (See Materials and Methods), then incubated with the radiolabeled DNA probe containing the Gal4 recognition sites. Recombinant protein from transgenic embryos of line 202-358-4B and 202-358 ΔE -5 forms a complex with the DNA probe and migrate differently from the probe in the acrylamide gel (Figure 21A, lane 1 and 3). Adding the M2 anti-Flag antibody into the 202-358 ΔE -5 reaction mixture causes a larger complex formation, indicated by the slower mobility in the acrylamide gel (lane 4). This suggests that the protein component of the complex is the recombinant protein 202-358 ΔE -5 with the flag epitope. Adding the anti-flag antibody did not supershift the complex of 202-358-4B and the DNA probe (Figure 21A, lanes 1 and 2). However, 202-358-4B was confirmed to contain the flag epitope in the c-terminal by the sequencing reactions and it is a transcriptional repressor in embryo assays (data not shown). This contradictory result can be explained by the following possibilities: 1. The folding of the protein of this particular recombinant protein makes the flag tag inaccessible to the anti-flag antibody. 2. The protein-DNA complex observed in Figure 21A lane 1 is formed by protein impurities from the nuclear extract preparation and the 202-358-4B protein was lost in the nuclear extract preparation step. The recombinant protein 202-358 Δ E-10 from another transgenic line of the construct 202-358 Δ E, is also able to form a ternary complex with the DNA probe and the Flag antibody (Figure 21B lane 2 and lane 5).

Figure 21. 202-358- Δ E-5 and 202-358- Δ E-10 are expressed in transgenic embryos. Nuclear protein Gal4-Knirps 202-358-4B, Gal4-Knirps 202-358- Δ E-5, Gal4-Knirps 202-358- Δ E-10 and Gal4-Knirps 202-358- Δ E-13 generated by the small-scale preparation were used in gel mobility shift experiments to detect the recombinant protein expression in embryos. (A) Gal4-Knirps 202-358-4B protein was incubated with UAS probe alone or with UAS and anti-Flag antibody (lane 1 and 2), Gal4-Knirps 202-358- Δ E-5 was incubated with UAS probe alone or with UAS and anti-Flag antibody (lane 3 and 4). (B) Gal4-Knirps 202-358- Δ E-10 was incubated with UAS probe alone or with UAS and anti-Flag (lane 1 and 4). Gal4-Knirps 202-358-4B and 202-358- Δ E-13 were also assayed in gel mobility shift reactions with UAS probe (lane 2 and 3).

Detection of the non-functional mutant Knirps proteins in embryos



Discussion:

248-358-flag was extracted by the large-scale preparation and assayed in an antibody supershift experiment. The result indicates that 248-358-flag is expressed at a similar level to 189-358-Flag protein (Figure 20). However, in the same gel shift conditions except that the recombinant proteins were extracted by the small-scale preparation, the result of the gel shift experiments showed that 248-358-flag was expressed at a lower level than that of 189-358. The contradictory results may reflect the variables in the nuclear protein extraction.

Detection of the poor expression of the non-functional proteins 202-358 Δ E-5 by the antibody super-shifts suggests that loss of repression function could be due to either the missing of important residues or the poor expression of this protein or both. It also suggests that loss of binding to dCtBP does not lead to complete protein degradation. dCtBP is playing important roles either in repression or protein stability or both.

I have detected the recombinant proteins from transgenic embryos of lines 189-358-flag, 202-358-flag (functional repressors) and line 248-358 (weak repressor) and lines and 202-358 Δ E-5 and 202-358 Δ E-10 proteins using the gel mobility shift assay. However, there are some problems to be solved before we make the safe conclusions. First, the nuclear protein extraction methods (see Materials and Methods) is modified from the similar methods which are used in nuclear protein extraction from tissue culture cell. It may not be the best one to isolate the rare amount of recombinant proteins from transgenic embryos. Especially for the small-scale nuclear protein preparation, there were variations that can not be ignored. As a result, not every functional Knirps mutant **re**pressor we tested showed protein expression in gel mobility shift experiments. Gal4-

Knirps 75-332 protein is an example. Second, it is still possible that the 202-358 Δ E-5 and 202-358 Δ E-10 are still partially degraded and are not expressed at the comparable level with other functional Knirps mutant proteins such as 202-358. Thus, the lack of repression ability of 202-358 Δ E-5 and 202-358 Δ E-10 proteins is possibly caused by the insufficient amount of proteins present in the embryos. Third, there are some embryo proteins that form non-specific complexes with the DNA probe containing the Gal 4 recognition sequence.

Conclusion:

The evidence above indicates that the non-functional proteins are expressed in embryos. Thus, disrupting the repression domains is most likely the reason for the lacks of repression activity of non-functional mutant Knirps proteins, although possibilities exist that relatively less amount of protein expressions contribute to the inabilities of the non-functional mutant Knirps proteins. Gel mobility shift results are consistent with a role of dCtBP as a Knirps co-repressor.

SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

Í

Two independent repression domains, the C-terminal repressor and the Nterminal repressor were discovered for the Knirps repressor. Mutagenesis and *in vivo* repression assays were performed to define the minimal repression domains, 202-358 is the C-terminal repressor and 139-330 is the N-terminal repressor. The zinc-finger DNA binding domain was found to play an autoinhibitory role in Knirps repression function.

The C-terminal repressor has previously reported to repress transcription through recruiting dCtBP corepressor. The N-terminal repressor does not contain a dCtBP binding motif and does not bind to dCtBP *in vitro*. To reveal the repression mechanisms of the N-terminal repressor, the GST-75-330 fusion protein affinity column is under construction and GST pull downs will be performed to fish out the potential cofactors required for the N-terminal repressor. The repression pattern will also be looked for in embryos lacking maternal dCtBP to test whether the repression function of the N-terminal repressor requires the presence of dCtBP.

BIBLIOGRAPHY
Arnosti D. N., S. Gray, S. Barolo, J. Zhou and M. Levine. 1996. The gap protein knirps mediates both quenching and direct repression in the Drosophila embryo. EMBO J. 15:3659-3666.

Aronson B. D., A. L. Fisher, K. Blechman, M. Caudy, J. P. Gergen. 1997. Groucho-dependent and -independent repression activities of Runt domain proteins. Mol. Cell. Biol. 17:5581-5587.

Arthur M, Molinas C, Dutka-Malen S, Courvalin P. 1991. Structural relationship between the vancomycin resistance protein VanH and 2-hydroxycarboxylic acid dehydrogenases. Gene. 15;103(1):133-4.

Barolo S. and M. Levine. 1997. hairy mediates dominant repression in the Drosophila embryo. EMBO J. 16:2883-2891.

Cai H.N., D. N. Arnosti and M. Levine. 1996. Long-range repression in the Drosophila embryo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93:9309-9314.

Cavallo R. A., R. T. Cox, M. M. Moline, J. Roose, G. A. Polevoy, H. Clevers, M. Peifer, A. Bejsovec. 1998. Drosophila Tcf and Groucho interact to repress Wingless signalling activity. Nature 395:604-608.

Chen C. K., R. P. Kuhnlein, K. G. Eulenberg, S. Vincent, M. Affolter and R. Schuh. 1998. The transcription factors KNIRPS and KNIRPS RELATED control cell migration and branch morphogenesis during Drosophila tracheal development. Development 125:4959-4968.

Chow CM, RajBhandary UL 1993. Developmental regulation of the gene for formate dehydrogenase in Neurospora crassa. J. Bacteriol.175(12):3703-9.

Dawson S. R., D. L. Turner, H. Weintraub, S. M. Parkhurst. 1995. Specificity for the hairy/enhancer of split basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) proteins maps outside the bHLH domain and suggests two separable modes of transcriptional repression. Mol. Cell. Biol. 15:6923-6931.

Driever W, Nusslein-Volhard C 1989. The bicoid protein is a positive regulator of hunchback transcription in the early Drosophila embryo. Nature. 12;337(6203):138-43.

Etienne MC, Milano G, Fischel JL, Frenay M, Francois E, Formento JL, Gioanni J, Namer M. 1989 Tamoxifen metabolism: pharmacokinetic and in vitro study. Br J Cancer. Jul;60(1):30-5.

Foulkes, N., Borrelli, E. and Sassone-Corsi, P., 1991 CREM gene: Use of alternative DNA-binding domains generate multiple antagonists of cAMP-induced trascription. Cell 64: 739-749

Furusawa T, Moribe H, Kondoh H, Higashi Y.1999. Identification of CtBP1 and CtBP2 as Corepressors of Zinc Finger-Homeodomain Factor deltaEF1. Mol Cell Biol. 19(12):8581-8590.

Gerwin N., A. La Rosee, F. Sauer, H. P. Halbritter, M. Neumann, H. Jäckle and U. Nauber. 1994. Functional and conserved domains of the Drosophila transcription factor encoded by the segmentation gene knirps. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14:7899-7908.

Godowski P. J., S. Rusconi, R. Miesfeld and K. R. Yamamoto. 1987. Glucocorticoid receptor mutants that are constitutive activators of transcriptional enhancement. Nature 325:365-368.

Gray S, P. Szymanski and M. Levine. 1994. Short-range repression permits multiple enhancers to function autonomously within a complex promoter. Genes Dev. 8:1829-1838.

Gray S., H., Cai, S. Barolo, and M. Levine. 1995. Transcriptional repression in the Drosophila embryo. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 349:257-262.

Gray S. and M. Levine. 1996. Short-range transcriptional repressors mediate both quenching and direct repression within complex loci in Drosophila. Genes Dev. 10:700-710.

Gray, S., and M. Levine. 1996. Transcriptional repression in development. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 8:358-364.

Hanna-Rose W., J. D. Licht, and U. Hansen. 1997. Two evolutionarily conserved repression domains in the Drosophila Kruppel protein differ in activator specificity. Mol. Cell. Biol. 17:4820-4829.

Hewitt G. F., B. S. Strunk, C. Margulies, T. Priputin, X. D. Wang, R. Amey, B. A. Pabst, D. Kosman, J. Reinitz and D. N. Arnosti. 1999. Transcriptional repression by the Drosophila giant protein: cis element positioning provides an alternative means of interpreting an effector gradient. Development 126:1201-1210.

Jackle H, Hoch M, Pankratz MJ, Gerwin N, Sauer F, Bronner G. 1992. Transcriptional control by Drosophila gap genes. J Cell Sci Suppl. 1992;16:39-51.

Jaynes J. B., P. H. O'Farrell. 1991. Active repression of transcription by the engrailed homeodomain protein. EMBO J. 10:1427-1433.

Jonsen M. D., J. M. Petersen, Q. P. Xu and B. J. Graves. 1996. Characterization of the cooperative function of inhibitory sequences in Ets-1. Mol. Cell. Biol. 16:2065-2073.

Kadosh D. and K. Struhl. 1998. Histone deacetylase activity of Rpd3 is important for transcriptional repression in vivo. Genes Dev. 12:797-805.

Kirov N., S. Childs, M. O'Connor and C. Rushlow. 1994. The Drosophila dorsal morphogen represses the tolloid gene by interacting with a silencer element. Mol. Cell. Biol. 14:713-722.

Kosman D. and S. Small. 1997. Concentration-dependent patterning by an ectopic expression domain of the Drosophila gap gene knirps. Development 124:1343-1354.

Langeland J. A. and S. B. Carroll. 1993. Conservation of regulatory elements controlling hairy pair-rule stripe formation. Development 117:585-596.

Li C, Manley JL. 1998. Even-skipped represses transcription by binding TATA binding protein and blocking the TFIID-TATA box interaction. Mol Cell Biol. 18(7):3771-81.

Light, J. D. W. Hanna-Rose, J. Reddy, M. English, M. Grossel, R. Shaknovich and U. Hansen. 1994. Mapping and mutagenesis of the amino-terminal transcriptional repression domain of the Drosophila Küppel Protein. Mol Cell Biol. 14(6):4057-66.

Lim F., N. Kraut, J. Framptom and T. Graf. 1992. DNA binding by c-Ets-1, but not v-Ets, is repressed by an intramolecular mechanism. EMBO J. 11:643-652.

Lunde K., B. Biehs, U. Nauber and E. Bier. 1998. The knirps and knirps-related genes organize development of the second wing vein in Drosophila. Development 125:4145-4154.

Meloni EG, Davis M 1999. Enhancement of the acoustic startle response in rats by the dopamine D1 receptor agonist SKF 82958. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 144(4):373-80.

Nan X, Ng HH, Johnson CA, Laherty CD, Turner BM, Eisenman RN, Bird A 1998 Transcriptional repression by the methyl-CpG-binding protein MeCP2 involves a histone deacetylase complex. Nature. 28;393(6683):386-9

Nauber U., M. J. Pankratz, A. Kienlin, E. Seifert, U. Klemm and H. Jäckle. 1988. Abdominal segmentation of the Drosophila embryo requires a hormone receptor-like protein encoded by the gap gene knirps. Nature 336:489-492.

Nibu Y., H. Zhang, E. Bajor, S. Barolo, S. Small and M. Levine. 1998a. dCtBP mediates transcriptional repression by Knirps, Kruppel and Snail in the Drosophila embryo. EMBO J. 17:7009-7020.

Nibu Y., H. Zhang and M. Levine 1998b. Interaction of short-range repressors with Drosophila CtBP in the embryo. Science 280:101-104.

Nomura T., M. M. Khan, S. C. Kaul, H. D. Dong, R. Wadhwa, C. Colmenares, I. Kohno and S. Ishii. 1999. Ski is a component of the histone deacetylase complex required for transcriptional repression by mad and thyroid hormone receptor. Genes Dev. 13:412-423.

Nusslein-Volhard C, Frohnhofer HG, Lehmann R 1987., Determination of anteroposterior polarity in Drosophila. Science. 18;238(4834):1675-81.

Nusslein-Volhard, C. and Wieschaus.E. 1980. Mutations affecting segment number and polarity in Drosophila. Nature 287, 795-801.

Ohkuma, Y., Sumimoto, H., Hoffmann, A., Shimasaki, S., Horikoshi, M., and Roeder, R. 1991. Structural motifs and potential sigma homologies in the large subunit of human general transcription factor TFIIE. Nature 354, 398-401.

Orphanides, G., Lagrange, T., and Reinberg, D. 1996. The general transcription factores of RNA plymerase II. Genes Dev 10: 2657-83.

Pankratz, M.J. and Jackle, H., 1993. Blastoderm segemetation. In bate, M. and Martimez Arias, A. (eds), The development of Drosophila melanogaster. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY, pp. 467-516.

Poortinga G., M. Watanabe and S. M. Parkhurst. 1998. Drosophila CtBP: a Hairyinteracting protein required for embryonic segmentation and hairy-mediated transcriptional repression. EMBO J. 17:2067-2078.

Rivera-Pomar, R. and H. Jäckle. 1996. From gradients to stripes in Drosophila embryogenesis: filling in the gaps. Trends Genet. 12:478-483.

Rivera-Pomar R, Lu X, Perrimon N, Taubert H, Jackle H. 1995. Activation of posterior gap gene expression in the Drosophila blastoderm. Nature. 20;376(6537):253-6.

Roberts S. G., I. Ha, E. Maldonado, D. Reinberg and M. R. Green. 1993. Interaction between an acidic activator and transcription factor TFIIB is required for transcriptional activation. Nature 363:741-744.

Roeder, R.G. (1991). The complexities of eukaryotic transcription initiation: regultation of preinitiation complex assembly. Trends Biochem Sci 16, 402-8.

Rothe M, Pehl M, Taubert H, Jackle H 1992 Loss of gene function through rapid mitotic cycles in the Drosophila embryo. Nature. 10;359(6391):156-9.

Schaeper U., J. M. Boyd, S. Verma, E. Uhlmann, T. Subramanian and G. Chinnadurai. 1995. Molecular cloning and characterization of a cellular phosphoprotein that interacts with a conserved C-terminal domain of adenovirus E1A involved in negative modulation of oncogenic transformation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:10467-10471.

Sewalt R. G., M. J. Gunster, J. van der Vlag, D. P. Satijn and A. P. Otte. 1999. C-Terminal binding protein is a transcriptional repressor that interacts with a specific class of vertebrate Polycomb proteins. Mol. Cell. Biol. 19:777-787. Simpson R. T. 1998. Chromatin structure and analysis of mechanisms of activators and repressors. Methods 15:283-294.

Skalicky J. J., L. W. Donaldson, J. M. Petersen, B. J. Graves and L. P. McIntosh. 1996. Structural coupling of the inhibitory regions flanking the ETS domain of murine Ets-1. Protein Sci. 5:296-309.

Small S., A. Blair and M. Levine. 1992. Regulation of even-skipped stripe 2 in the Drosophila embryo. EMBO J. 11:4047-4057.

Small S., R. Kraut, T. Hoey, R. Warrior and M. Levine. 1991. Transcriptional regulation of a pair-rule stripe in Drosophila. Genes Dev. 5:827-839.

Small S., A. Blair and M. Levine 1996. Regulation of two pair-rule stripes by a single enhancer in the Drosophila embryo. Dev. Biol. 175:314-324.

Sundqvist A, Sollerbrant K, Svensson C. 1998. The carboxy-terminal region of adenovirus E1A activates transcription through targeting of a C-terminal binding proteinhistone deacetylase complex. FEBS Lett. 429(2):183-8.

Taguchi H, Ohta T.1991. D-lactate dehydrogenase is a member of the D-isomer-specific 2-hydroxyacid dehydrogenase family. Cloning, sequencing, and expression in Escherichia coli of the D-lactate dehydrogenase gene of Lactobacillus plantarum. J Biol Chem. 266(19):12588-94.

Tolkunova E. N., M. Fujioka, M. Kobayashi, D. Deka and J. B. Jaynes. 1998. Two distinct types of repression domain in engrailed: one interacts with the groucho corepressor and is preferentially active on integrated target genes. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18:2804-2814.

Triezenberg, S. J. 1995. Structure and function of transcriptional activation domains. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 5: 190-196.

Turner J., and M. Crossley. 1998. Cloning and characterization of mCtBP2, a corepressor that associates with basic Kruppel-like factor and other mammalian transcriptional regulators. EMBO J. 17:5129-5140.

Wang S, Nath N, Adlam M, S. Chellappan 1999. Prohibitin, a potential tumor suppressor, interacts with RB and regulates E2F function. Oncogene18:3501-3510.

Wharton K. A. Jr and S. T. Crews. 1993. CNS midline enhancers of the Drosophila slit and Toll genes. Mech. Dev. 40:141-154.

White R. A. and R. Lehmann. 1986. A gap gene, hunchback, regulates the spatial expression of Ultrabithorax. Cell 47:311-321.

Wu W. H., and M. Hampsey. 1999. An activation-specific role for transcription factor TFIIB in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96:2764-2769.

Young, R. A. (1991). RNA plymerase II. Annu Rev Biochem 60, 689-715

Zhang H. and M. Levine. 1999. Groucho and dCtBP mediate separate pathways of transcriptional repression in the Drosophila embryo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96:535-540.

Zawel L, Reinberg D, 1993 Initiation of transcription by RNA polymerase II: a multi-step process. *Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol* 44:67-108

